FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
1/13/2022 4:53 PM
No. 55164-1

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/14/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

100573-3

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NORTHWEST PULP & PAPER ASSOCIATION, THE ASSOCIATION OF WASHINGTON BUSINESS, and WASHINGTON FARM BUREAU,

Petitioners,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

JAMES A. TUPPER, JR WSBA No. 16873 LYNNE M. COHEE WSBA No. 18496 Tupper Mack Wells PLLC 2025 First Avenue, Suite 1100 Seattle, WA 98121 (206) 493-2300 Attorneys for Petitioners

I. INTRODUCTION

The Washington Administrative Procedure Act (APA), chapter 34.05 RCW, requires notice and comment rulemaking to ensure that parties impacted by actions taken by regulatory agencies can meaningfully participate in the development of policies that affect them. The APA thus broadly defines a "rule" in RCW 34.05.010(16) to include *any* agency directive that is generally applicable to all members of a class or to all participants in an agency program, provided that the directive falls into one of five enumerated categories.

In 2018, the Department of Ecology issued a revised version of its Water Quality Program Permit Writer's Manual with a new chapter 6, section 4.5 (the Test Methods Section), addressing, for the first time, the test methods to be used by Ecology permit writers to measure polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) in National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permits. In a departure from past versions of the Manual, the Test Methods Section newly directed Ecology's

permit writers to do exactly the opposite of what is required under federal and state regulations and use unreliable and inaccurate PCBs test methods 1668C and 8082A, which have not been approved by EPA. Rather than promulgate the Test Methods Section using APA-required rulemaking procedures, Ecology circumvented notice and comment by simply adding the new Test Methods Section to its Manual, thereby depriving the regulated community of the opportunity to weigh in on this impactful and complex requirement.

The Thurston County Superior Court dismissed

Petitioners' APA rule challenge alleging that the Test Methods

Section was an invalid rule adopted by Ecology without notice

and comment rulemaking. The Court of Appeals affirmed.

Even though the Manual, on its face, requires that permit

writers follow its dictates when issuing and reissuing NPDES

permits, and the Manual is applied to all participants in the state

NPDES program discharging PCBs, the Court of Appeals held

that the Test Methods Section is not a directive of general

applicability and thus does not meet the RCW 34.05.010(16) definition of a rule.

The published decision of the Court of Appeals, with its constricted reading of the "general applicability" requirement of RCW 34.05.010(16), is directly contrary to this Court's decisions in Failor's Pharmacy v. Dep't of Social and Health Servs., 125 Wn.2d 488, 495, 886 P.2d 147 (1994), and Simpson Tacoma Kraft Co. v. Dep't of Ecology, 119 Wn.2d 640, 648, 835 P.2d 1030 (1992). The Court of Appeals effectively created a new test for "general applicability" that would shield many agency directives from the APA's notice and comment rulemaking requirements, contrary to the very purpose behind those requirements. Here, because all NPDES permittees do not discharge PCBs, the Court of Appeals found that the Test Methods Section was not generally applicable and did not constitute a rule. But this cannot be the case. The "general applicability" rule applies to the class that is regulated, not the action being regulated. Every NPDES permit that regulates

PCBs is subject to the Test Methods Section. Given the importance of the APA's rulemaking requirements, which apply to every state agency, the Court of Appeals' decision in this case raises an issue of substantial public interest, warranting review and correction by this Court.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioners are appellants Northwest Pulp & Paper
Association, the Association of Washington Business, and
Washington Farm Bureau (collectively, Northwest Pulp & Paper).

III. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Northwest Pulp & Paper seeks review of the Court of Appeals, Division II published decision, dated December 14, 2021, attached as Appendix A.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the new Test Methods Section of Ecology's
 Permit Writer's Manual is a "directive of general
 applicability" within the meaning of the APA's definition

of a "rule" in RCW 34.05.010(16) where on its face the Manual applies to virtually all discharge permits issued by Ecology in Washington, and applies uniformly to all permittees discharging PCBs into Washington waterbodies.

2. Whether the new Test Methods Section of Ecology's

Permit Writer's Manual falls into at least one of the five
categories set out in the APA's definition of a "rule" in
RCW 34.05.010(16) where prior versions of the Manual
contained no requirements regarding the use of PCBs test
methods, and the Test Methods Section newly instructs
permit writers, contrary to federal and state law, to use
unapproved PCBs test methods 1668C and 8082A when
issuing and reissuing NPDES permits.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Clean Water Act and NPDES Permit Program.

The Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1251-1388, prohibits the discharge of pollutants from a point source without an

NPDES permit. 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311(a), 1342(a). In Washington, Ecology has delegated responsibility for administering the NPDES permit program and drafting, issuing, and reissuing permits to all entities in the state discharging into waters of the United States outside of federal and tribal lands. RCW 90.48.260; 33 U.S.C. § 1342(b)(1)(B); 40 C.F.R. § 122.46(a); WAC 173-220-180(1). Dischargers must submit a permit application to Ecology. 40 C.F.R. § 122.21(a); WAC 173-220-040. Permittees whose permits are due to expire have a "duty to reapply" and obtain a new permit. 40 C.F.R. §§ 122.21(d), 122.41(b). *See* WAC 173-220-180(2).

An NPDES permit specifies water quality criteria and the required methods to apply it. WAC 173-201A-260(3). Ecology has adopted water quality standards, chapter 173-201A WAC, that have been approved by EPA under the CWA. 33 U.S.C. § 1313. Among other requirements, NPDES permits must impose effluent limitations in order to ensure that the state's water quality standards will not be violated. 33 U.S.C.

§§ 1311(b)(1)(C), 1342(a)-(b), 1362(11); 40 C.F.R. § 122.44; WAC 173-226-070; WAC 173-201A-510(1)(b).

40 C.F.R. Part 122 regulates the manner in which Ecology determines whether an NPDES permit requires a water-quality based effluent limitation ("WQBEL"), including determining whether a discharge has a reasonable potential to cause or contribute to a violation of a narrative or numeric water quality standard. 40 C.F.R. §§ 122.44(d)(1)(i),(ii). If the analysis shows that there is a reasonable potential, the permit must include an effluent limit for that pollutant. 40 C.F.R. §§ 122.44(d)(1)(i),(iii),(iv); 122.44(k)(3).

It is a violation of the CWA to discharge a pollutant in excess of the effluent limitations in an NPDES permit or to violate any other condition in the permit. 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a); 40 C.F.R. § 122.41. Noncompliance by the permittee with any condition of the permit is grounds for enforcement action; for permit termination, revocation and reissuance, or modification; or denial of a permit renewal application. 33 U.S.C. §

1342(b)(1)(C); 40 C.F.R. §§ 122.41, 122.64. Similarly, it is a violation of a state waste discharge permit to violate any conditions of the permit. RCW 90.48.144; WAC 173-220-150(1)(c). *See also* RCW 90.48.080. Discharge monitoring and reporting are the primary means of ensuring compliance with permit limitations. *See* 33 U.S.C. § 1318(a); 40 C.F.R. §§ 122.41(j), (l)(4); WAC 173-220-210(1).

B. NPDES Permits Require Use of EPA-Approved Test Methods in 40 C.F.R. Part 136.

The test methods approved by EPA for measuring chemicals in effluent in NPDES permits are contained in 40 C.F.R. Part 136. It is undisputed that the only test method approved in 40 C.F.R. Part 136 for measuring PCBs is Method 608. 40 C.F.R. § 136.3 Table 1C, Part 136, Appendix A, Meth. 608. EPA has repeatedly declined to approve other test methods for measuring PCBs in NPDES permits, most recently in May 2021. 86 Fed. Reg. 27,226 (May 19, 2021); 82 Fed. Reg. 40,836, 40,875-76 (Aug. 28, 2017).

Under state and federal regulations Ecology "may also approve other [test] methods following consultation with adjacent states and with the approval of the USEPA." WAC 173-201A-260(3)(h). *See* 40 C.F.R. §§ 136.4, 136.5, 136.6. Although Ecology has considered seeking EPA approval for an alternate PCBs test method, it has never done so. CP 27-30; CP 18-19. In the Test Methods Section Ecology stated that it is not proposing to seek EPA approval of Method 1668C "as there are known problems in regard to the repeatability and accuracy of the method in addition to the expense of the analysis." AR 0164.0256.¹

Both state and federal regulations provide that NPDES permits "must" and "shall" use the EPA-approved test methods contained in 40 C.F.R. Part 136. Washington's surface water quality standards identify the procedures Ecology must use

¹ "AR" references are to the Administrative Record certified by Ecology. The 2018 Manual is in the Administrative Record at AR 0164. The Test Methods Section is at AR 0164.0249-264.

when applying the appropriate state water quality criteria for a waterbody in an NPDES permit. WAC 173-201A-260(3). The standards state:

The analytical testing methods for these numeric criteria *must* be in accordance with the "*Guidelines Establishing Test Procedures for the Analysis of Pollutants*" (40 C.F.R. Part 136) or superseding methods published.

WAC 173-201A-260(3)(h) (emphasis supplied).

EPA's regulations are consistent. 40 C.F.R. § 136.1 provides that 40 C.F.R. Part 136-approved test methods "shall... be used to perform the measurements" for permit applications, reports required to be submitted under permits, or requests for quantitative or qualitative effluent data. 40 C.F.R. § 136.1(a)(1), (2). Permit applications "shall not be considered complete unless all required quantitative data are collected in accordance with sufficiently sensitive analytical methods approved under 40 C.F.R. part 136...." 40 C.F.R. § 122.21(e)(3). The EPA regulation setting out the "conditions applicable to all permits" also mandates that required permit monitoring "must be conducted according to test procedures

approved under 40 C.F.R. Part 136. . . . " 40 C.F.R. § 122.41(j)(4).

In August 2018, the Washington State Supreme Court held that because the CWA and state and federal regulations require that NPDES permits use EPA-approved test methods to measure PCBs, and Method 608 is the only such method, Ecology is required to use Method 608 in the permits it issues to dischargers. *Puget Soundkeeper Alliance v. Dep't of Ecology*, 191 Wn.2d 631, 424 P.3d 1173 (2019) ("Seattle Iron & Metals"). The court stated: "Method 608 is EPA approved, and Ecology was required to use that test." *Id.* at 642-43.

C. Ecology's Test Methods Section.

Directly contrary to *Seattle Iron & Metals* and the regulations requiring the use of 40 C.F.R. part 136 EPA-approved test methods to measure PCBs, in July 2018 Ecology issued a revised version of the Manual, with the new Test Methods Section directing permit writers to use unapproved PCBs test methods for several purposes when writing NPDES

permits. AR 0164.0249-264. Most importantly, the Section directs permit writers to "use all valid and applicable data, including data collected using methods not approved under 40 C.F.R. Part 136 (e.g. Methods 1668C and 8082A)" in evaluating the reasonable potential to cause or contribute to a violation of water quality standards, and in calculating numeric effluent limits. AR 0164.0254-55, 261-63. Once calculated, those numeric effluent limits – based on data from unapproved test methods – become enforceable in any reissued permit after the current permit expires. Moreover, even when an NPDES permit does not contain a numeric effluent limitation for PCBs, once Ecology has determined – again based on data from unapproved test methods – that a discharge has a reasonable potential to cause or contribute to a violation of water quality standards, permittees may be determined to have violated permit conditions prohibiting such discharges.

As with past versions, the 2018 Manual begins by stating that "[P]ermit writers are required to use the procedures in this

manual for developing permits" and directs that permit writers who believe that a permitting situation requires a different process must discuss the alternative process with their supervisor. AR 0164.0004 (emphasis supplied). The Manual states that its "objectives and functions" include defining "the requirements for permits in Washington," and providing "a central document to place new information, guidance, and requirements related to permitting." AR 0164.0031 (emphasis supplied). In practice, "Ecology permit writers look to this Manual as the inviolate 'rule book' for NPDES permit development." AR 0329.0001.

The Manual states that its requirements apply to all Joint State/NPDES permits issued by Ecology under the WPCA and CWA, all industrial/commercial facilities, all general permits, and all state waste discharge permits. AR 0164.0032. Ecology instructed its permit writers that they must use the new Test Methods Section "for all PCB monitoring in all water quality permits." AR 0449.0003.

VI. ARGUMENT

This case merits discretionary review because the Court of Appeals' narrow reading of the APA's definition of a "rule" in RCW 34.05.010(16)(a) conflicts with Supreme Court decisions and involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Court. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).

A. The Court of Appeals Decision Regarding the RCW
34.05.010(16) Definition of a Rule of General
Applicability Conflicts with Supreme Court Decisions
and Involves an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

RCW 34.05.375 requires that an agency substantially comply with the APA rule-making procedures set out in RCW 34.05.310-.395, including notice and comment requirements. An agency's failure to do so is grounds for invalidation of the rule. RCW 34.05.570(2)(c); *Failor's Pharmacy*, 125 Wn.2d at 493. It is undisputed that Ecology did not conduct notice and comment rulemaking here.

The purpose of APA-required rulemaking procedures is to give notice to the public of the proposed rule and to allow it

to comment on the proposal. Hunter v. Univ. of Washington, 101 Wn. App. 283, 293, 2 P.3d 1022 (2000). "Technically sound, lawful, and politically responsive rules are more likely if there is ample advance notice of the terms of proposed rules and a full opportunity for, and consideration of, public comment." Id. (citing William R. Andersen, The 1988 *Washington Administrative Procedure Act – An Introduction,* 64 Wash. L. Rev. 781, 795 (1989)). The definition of "rule" under our state's APA, "unlike that in the federal or other state APAs, is inclusive." Failor's Pharmacy, 125 Wn.2d at 493 (emphasis supplied). The label that an agency puts on its action is not determinative of whether it constitutes a rule. McGee Guest Home, Inc. v. Dep't of Social and Health Serv., 142 Wn.2d 316, 322, 12 P.3d 144 (2000).

Washington's APA defines a "rule" as follows:

"Rule" means any agency order, directive, or regulation of general applicability (a) the violation of which subjects a person to a penalty or administrative sanction; (b) which establishes, alters, or revokes any procedure, practice, or requirement relating to agency hearings; (c) which establishes, alters, or revokes any qualification or requirement relating to the enjoyment of benefits or privileges conferred by law; (d) which establishes, alters, or revokes any qualifications or standards for the issuance, suspension, or revocation of licenses to pursue any commercial activity, trade, or profession; or (e) which establishes, alters, or revokes any mandatory standards for any product or material which must be met before distribution or sale.

RCW 34.05.010(16).

RCW 34.05.010(16) begins with the requirement that a "rule" be an "order, directive, or regulation of general applicability." The definition "goes beyond orders and regulations of general applicability and includes 'directives,' presumably referring to anything which is directive in nature, whether labeled a bulletin, an announcement, or a manual." Andersen, 64 Wash. L. Rev. at 790.

The Washington Supreme Court set out the standard for "general applicability" in *Failor's Pharmacy* and *Simpson Tacoma Kraft*: An agency action is of general applicability if applied uniformly to all members of a class, or applicable to all participants in a program. *Failor's Pharmacy*, 125 Wn.2d at

495; Simpson Tacoma Kraft, 119 Wn.2d at 648. In these cases, the court drew a distinction between directives applied to just one individual or program participant, which are not considered rules, versus those applied to an entire class of individual or program participants, which are. Thus, "where the challenge is to a policy applicable to all participants in a program, not its implementation under a single contract or assessment of individual benefits, the action is of general applicability within the definition of a rule." Failor's Pharmacy, 125 Wn.2d at 495 (citing Simpson Tacoma Kraft, 119 Wn.2d at 648).

The court first set out this "general applicability" standard in *Simpson Tacoma Kraft*, which involved Ecology's adoption of a new numeric water quality standard for dioxin without engaging in APA rulemaking. 119 Wn.2d at 643-44. The court held that because Ecology applied its new water quality standard to all entities discharging dioxin into the state's waters pursuant to NPDES permits, rather than to just one permittee, the standard was a rule of general applicability. *Id*.

at 647-48. Similarly, in *Failor's Pharmacy*, DSHS's changes to Medicaid reimbursement payment schedules for prescription drugs were held to be a rule of general applicability because the policy was applicable to all Medicaid prescription provider program participants and not just to a single participant.

Failor's Pharmacy, 125 Wn.2d at 495-96. Because the Test Methods Section requirements are applied to all dischargers discharging PCBs into the state's waters pursuant to the NPDES program, not just to one discharger, program participant, or permittee, it meets the standard for general applicability in Failor's Pharmacy and Simpson Tacoma Kraft.

The Court of Appeals decision here set out a new standard for "general applicability" not previously articulated by any Washington court:

Where the agency action provides guidance for agency staff that (1) allows staff to exercise discretion, (2) provides for case-by-case analysis of variables rather than uniform application of a standard, and (3) is not binding on the regulated community, the action does not constitute a directive of general applicability.

App. A at 13. Applying this new standard, the Court of Appeals found that the Test Methods Section was not a directive of "general applicability" and thus did not fall within the RCW 34.05.010(16) definition of a rule requiring notice and comment rulemaking. *Id.* at 17.²

The Court of Appeals relied in part on a prior Court of Appeals, Division II opinion, *Sudar v. Dep't of Fish & Wildlife Comm'n*, 187 Wn. App. 22, 347 P.3d 1090 (2015). App. A at 12-13, 16-17. Like the Court of Appeals decision at issue here, *Sudar* created a standard for general applicability contrary to that set out in *Failor's Pharmacy* and *Simpson Tacoma Kraft*. The *Sudar* court held that to be of "general applicability" an agency action must have a "legally enforceable regulatory effect" and "[a]n agency policy is subject to challenge as a rule

²Of course, the Court of Appeals also failed to properly apply its own novel test. The Test Methods Section does not, in fact, allow staff to exercise discretion and does impose a binding regulation on all NPDES permit holders. *See supra* at 12-13.

pursuant to RCW 34.05.570(1) only when it imposes an independent regulatory mechanism that operates with the force of law." *Sudar*, 187 Wn. App. at 31-34. The *Sudar* court found that the agency action at issue did not meet this standard and thus did not meet the RCW 34.05.010(16) definition of a rule. Quoting from *Sudar*, the Court of Appeals here held that "[i]mportantly, the [Test Methods Section] has 'no legally enforceable regulatory effect' on PCB dischargers, and dischargers cannot be penalized for violating the Manual." App. A at 16-17 (quoting *Sudar*, 187 Wn. App. at 32).³

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