FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/10/2022 11:24 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 100573-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NORTHWEST PULP & PAPER ASSOCIATION, THE ASSOCIATION OF WASHINGTON BUSINESS, and WASHINGTON FARM BUREAU,

Petitioners,

v.

STATE OF WASINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY,

Respondent,

STATE OF WASHINGTON, DEPARTMENT OF ECOLOGY'S ANSWER IN OPPOSITION TO APPELLANTS' PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

PHYLLIS J. BARNEY Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 40678 P.O. Box 40117 Olympia, WA 98504 360-586-6770 OID No. 91024

I. INTRODUCTION

Appellants Northwest Pulp and Paper Association et al. (NWPP) seek review of a decision of the Court of Appeals that correctly held that an update to the Department of Ecology's Permit Writers Manual was not an administrative rule under the Administrative Procedure Act (APA). NWPP's arguments for review are predicated on mischaracterizations of the permitting Guidance Manual, applicable federal law, and the Court of Appeals' opinion. Contrary to NWPP's arguments, the Court of Appeals followed, rather than contravened, this Court's precedents, concluding that the options for permit writers found in the Guidance Manual update are not uniformly applied to the entire class of permittees and thus do not constitute an administrative rule under the APA. Its application of settled law to the undisputed facts of this case does not warrant review.

Unlike a rule of general applicability, the Guidance Manual update is simply a compilation of options for agency permit writers to consider when developing discharge permits for facilities that have a reasonable potential to discharge polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) to state waters. NWPP's repeated characterization of the Guidance Manual as mandating the use of two PCB testing methods in every permit is simply false. The plain language of the Guidance Manual instructs that these methods should be applied in a permit writer's discretion, on a case-by-case basis, according to the individual needs of the facility. Further, the Guidance Manual does not alter any state or federal requirement or standard applicable to permittees; it simply helps guide permit writers' exercise of discretion in implementing requirements and standards found in the federal Clean Water Act and state law.

The Guidance Manual is thus guidance for Ecology staff, not an administrative rule. The Court of Appeals got it right, and this Court should deny NWPP's Petition for Discretionary Review.

II. RESTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals correctly hold that the Guidance Manual was not a "directive of general applicability" and thus not an administrative rule, because the guidance is not applied uniformly to the entire class of permit holders, and Ecology staff apply appropriate Guidance Manual options on a case-by-case, site-specific basis when federal and state law require a facility to have a permit to discharge pollutants?
- 2. Should this Court conclude that the Guidance Manual is not an administrative rule, because the qualifications and standards for permits are set in federal and state law and regulation, and the Guidance Manual neither adds to nor alters those qualifications and standards?

III. RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Polychlorinated Biphenyls (PCBs)

PCBs are a group of 209 chemical compounds, each of which have the same chemical base, but slightly different

structures. AR 0922.0004.¹ PCBs are of major environmental concern because of their toxicity, ubiquity, and persistence in the environment. *Id*. The Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) prohibited PCB manufacture and commercial use in 1976. *Id*. Despite this prohibition, PCBs persist in the environment, and may also be newly created in small quantities as a result of chemical processes. AR 0749.0001.

B. The Clean Water Act and NPDES Permit Program

The federal Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1251–1388, and state Water Pollution Control Act, RCW 90.48, prohibit the discharge of any pollutant to surface waters unless the discharge is made pursuant to the terms of a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) discharge permit. 33 U.S.C. § 1342(a); RCW 90.48.160. Ecology, pursuant to its authority as the state water pollution control agency, sets water quality standards for state waters. RCW 90.48.260; 40 C.F.R. § 131.10;

¹ Cites to AR are to the Administrative Record filed with the Court. Cited pages are attached as Appendix B.

WAC 173-201A. Water quality standards can be expressed as numeric limits for individual pollutants, or as a narrative limit that is descriptive rather than numeric. *See e.g.*, WAC 173-201A-240 (stating that "[t]oxic substances shall not be introduced above natural background levels"). Washington water quality standards include a numeric limit for PCBs. WAC 173-201A-240, table 240.

If a facility has a "reasonable potential" to discharge a pollutant in an amount that would violate water quality standards, the facility's NPDES permit must contain effluent limitations on the discharge in order to prevent that violation. 40 C.F.R. § 122.44(d)(1); WAC 173-220-130(b)(i). An effluent limitation is any restriction on timing, quantity, rate, or concentration of pollutants discharged into the waters of the state. 33 U.S.C. § 1362(11); 40 C.F.R. § 122.44(k). Effluent limitations may be expressed as numeric limits that identify the amount of a specified pollutant that may be contained in a facility's discharge, or, if setting numeric limits is infeasible, other types

of limitations may be incorporated instead, in the form of best management practices designed to reduce pollutant discharges. 40 C.F.R. § 122.44(d); 40 C.F.R. § 122.44(k)(3)–(4).

NPDES permits contain testing requirements of various kinds. 40 C.F.R. § 122.44(i). One type of testing is monitoring of a specific pollutant, like PCBs, for compliance with a numeric effluent limitation. 40 C.F.R. § 122.44(i)(1). For such compliance monitoring, a facility must use a test method listed in 40 C.F.R. part 136 that is sufficiently sensitive to identify and pollutant. 40 C.F.R. measure § 122.44(i)(1)(iv); WAC 173-201A-260(3)(h); Puget Soundkeeper All. v. Dep't of Ecology, 191 Wn.2d 631, 424 P.3d 1173 (2018) (hereinafter Seattle Iron and Metals). A method listed in 40 C.F.R. part 136 is also required for testing that must be completed for an application for a permit. 40 C.F.R. § 136.1(a). Method 608.3 is

the test method approved in 40 C.F.R. part 136 by the EPA for testing for PCBs.²

In addition to compliance monitoring and the testing required for a permit application, federal regulation provides that Ecology may reasonably require the collection of other information "to assess the discharges of the facility." 40 C.F.R. § 122.21(g)(13). This additional information may include additional quantitative data, including the results from additional testing, that Ecology may then use to assess the discharge. 40 C.F.R. § 122.21(g)(13).

Method 608.3, found in 40 C.F.R. part 136, can measure the total amount of PCBs in a sample, and can also measure the amount of certain specific "Aroclors" in a sample, "Aroclor"

² Incremental improvements to the methods discussed in this case occurred during the time of the Guidance Manual update. Method 608.3 is the current version of Method 608 approved by the EPA for permit compliance monitoring (82 Fed. Reg. 40836 (Aug. 28, 2017)). Method 8082A's prior version is Method 8082. Method 1668C's prior versions may appear in the record as 1668 or 1668a.

being the trade name for manufactured combinations of PCBs that were once intentionally produced for industrial purposes. AR 0922.0004. Method 608.3 cannot, however, measure each of the 209 individual PCB compounds that make up the family of PCBs. Each of these 209 individual PCBs are referred to as PCB "congeners." *Id*.

40 C.F.R. part 136 does not specify test methods for identifying and measuring each of the 209 individual congeners of PCBs. In such circumstances, when a specific pollutant does not have a test method listed in 40 C.F.R. part 136, federal regulations allow a permitting authority to specify a test method for measuring that pollutant in the permit itself. 40 C.F.R. § 122.44(i)(1)(iv)(B). Thus federal regulations allow a permitting authority to specify testing methods other than Method 608.3 when it is necessary to test for individual PCB congeners, and when the testing is not for compliance with a numeric effluent limit.

Consistent with these regulations, the Guidance Manual specifies two other test methods that may be used for PCB testing when it is beneficial to identify individual congeners, for such purposes as measuring the effectiveness of a treatment to eliminate PCBs from an effluent, or for identifying the source of PCB contamination in order to install best management practices to limit the contamination. Method 8082A is approved by the EPA for measuring PCBs in sediments, and can also be used for wastewater testing. AR 0797.0002. Method 1668C, published by the EPA, can identify individual congeners, and is also used to measure PCBs in wastewater. AR 0922.0005.

The three test methods vary in their sensitivity and analytical ability to detect PCBs. AR 0164.0261. Method 608.3—the method specified in 40 C.F.R. part 136 for compliance monitoring—is the least sensitive. Method 1668C is the most sensitive, can be used to identify each of the 209 individual congeners, and is able detect smaller amounts of PCBs than the other two methods. *Id*.

C. Ecology's Permit Writers Manual (Guidance Manual)

The Guidance Manual sets out procedures for permit writers to use when developing discharge permits. AR 0164.0004. The Guidance Manual requires the use of test methods approved in 40 C.F.R. part 136 for measuring compliance with numeric effluent limits. The Guidance Manual does not dictate the use of other test methods for any other purpose, but provides guidance in using those methods for other purposes.

Ecology maintains the Guidance Manual to improve the quality and consistency of discharge permits, and to improve the efficiency of the permitting process. AR 0164.0031. The Guidance Manual states clearly that it "is not regulation and should not be cited as regulatory authority for any permit condition." AR 0164.0033. The Guidance Manual integrates and implements existing state and federal law and regulations. *Id.* Ecology convened a work group to update the Guidance Manual in 2015 to respond to new developments in the law and technical

guidance regarding PCB detection and measurement. The updated Guidance Manual, which included Chapter 6, Section 4.5 addressing PCBs, was issued in July 2018. AR 0164.0004.

IV. AUTHORITY AND ARGUMENT

This Court's review is not warranted here because the Court of Appeals' decision faithfully follows, rather than conflicts, with this Court's prior decisions defining an administrative rule under the APA. RAP 13.4(b)(1). NWPP fails to demonstrate that the Guidance Manual meets the definition of a rule because the Guidance Manual is not uniformly applied to an entire class of permitted facilities. Additionally, while PCB pollution is of public concern, Ecology's guidance to its permit writers in exercising discretion on a case-by-case basis does not present an issue of substantial public interest that requires a determination by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4). NWPP's Petition for Discretionary Review should be denied.

A. The Court of Appeals Decision Comports with Prior Rulings of This Court

NWPP is correct that all facilities that discharge PCBs are required to have permits that contain limits, whether numeric or narrative. But that requirement is dictated by statutes and regulations under the Clean Water Act and RCW 90.48, not the Guidance Manual.³ The Clean Water Act is the authority for the requirement that facilities that discharge PCBs must have permits that limit those discharges. 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311; 1342(a). Ecology implements the requirements of the Clean Water Act when it issues NPDES permits to dischargers.

1. The Guidance Manual is not uniformly applied to all permittees

NWPP claims that the Court of Appeals failed to apply this

Court's prior precedent and created a "new standard" for

determining when an agency order, directive or regulation is of

³ 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311, 1342; 40 C.F.R. § 122.44(d)(a); RCW 90.48.520; WAC 173-201A-510(1) (discharge permits "must be conditioned so the discharges authorized will meet the water quality standards.").

general applicability. This is incorrect. The court relied on well-settled law to find that the Guidance Manual was not a rule of general applicability.

In holding that the Guidance Manual was not a rule, the court stated that "[h]ow the agency applies the challenged standard, not the outcome of the application, is determinative." Northwest Pulp & Paper Ass'n v. Dep't of Ecology, No. 55164-I-II, slip op. at 12 (Wash. Dec. 14, 2021) (Appendix A). This is consistent with this Court's prior decisions. In Simpson Tacoma Kraft Company v. Department of Ecology, this Court found that Ecology imposed a standard of general applicability when Ecology applied a numeric standard for dioxin uniformly to the entire class of entities that discharged dioxin, regardless of which facility or waterbody was at issue. Simpson Tacoma Kraft Co. v. Dep't of Ecology, 119 Wn.2d 640, 648, 835 P.2d 1030 (1992). Similarly, in Failor's Pharmacy v. Department of Social and Health Services, this Court found that reimbursement schedules were an administrative rule because they were imposed on all members of the regulated community, even though outcomes (the amount each provider was reimbursed) may have differed. *Failor's Pharmacy v. Dep't of Social and Health Services*, 125 Wn.2d 488, 495–96, 886 P.2d 147 (1994). The Court of Appeals followed and applied this law.

NWPP's argument otherwise is predicated on a mischaracterization of the Guidance Manual. NWPP claims that the Guidance Manual is uniformly applied to all permittees, and asserts that the use of Methods 8082A and 1668C are "dictates" that are "required" to be used in all permits. Petition for Discretionary Review (Pet.) at 2, 18, 19 n.2, 27, 28. NWPP, however, conspicuously cannot point to any language in the Guidance Manual mandating that Methods 8082A and 1668C be uniformly used in all permits, because there is no such language. This is why Ecology prevailed below, and why the Court should deny review here.

The *only* required use of a test method for PCBs found in the Guidance Manual is the required use of Method 608.3 for

measuring compliance with numeric PCB limits, and for the monitoring necessary to complete a permit application. Appendix A at 13, AR 0164.0249,⁴ AR 0164.0261,⁵ AR 0164.0262.⁶ This comports with federal and state regulation, and the Guidance Manual does nothing more than accurately reflect this. 40 C.F.R. § 122.44(i)(1)(iv); 40 C.F.R. § 136.1(a); WAC 173-201A-260(3)(h).

The Court of Appeals correctly noted that "[t]he Manual does not state that permit writers must mandate data collection using Methods 1668C and 8082A." Appendix A at 16. In contrast to the mandatory language requiring the use of Method 608.3 for compliance testing, the language regarding Methods 8082A and

⁴ "Federal NPDES permitting regulations require use of analytical test methods approved under 40 CFR Part 136 for assessing compliance with permit limits. The method currently approved for use in PCB analysis under 40 CFR Part 136 is Method 608."

⁵ "[N]umerical effluent limit compliance must be evaluated using Method 608.3."

⁶ "40 CFR 122.21(e)(3) says the application shall not be considered complete unless 40 CFR part 136 approved methods are used."

1668C is permissive and does not apply to measuring for compliance with numeric limits. Instead, as the Court of Appeals correctly concluded, the Guidance Manual's recommendations for the use of test methods other than Method 608.3 for purposes other than compliance testing provides for flexibility and discretion in determining what testing, if any, is required individual permits. Appendix A at 13–14. The court quoted directly from the permissive language of the Guidance Manual, and identified, as does the guidance, that Methods 8082A and 1668C "may" be used to evaluate sources of PCBs, and that the use of those methods "may" be required to identify individual congeners or for the analysis of the effectiveness of best management practices. Appendix A at 13–14 (citing AR 0164.0250 and AR 0164.0264) (emphasis added). The Guidance Manual further states that monitoring requirements should only be included in permits when necessary for a facility's specific discharge situation. AR 0164.0260. The Guidance Manual does not call for mandatory application of any test method other than Method 608.3 when it is appropriate, stating instead that "[w]hile PCB monitoring may be appropriate for some dischargers based on individual facility characteristics, permit writers should consider the value and purpose of requiring PCB monitoring when developing discharge permits." AR 0164.0261. The court thus correctly recognized the permissive nature of the Guidance Manual, determining that it allows staff to exercise discretion, and provides for "case-by-case analysis of variables rather than uniform application of a standard." Appendix A at 13.

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